

# SME accounting requirements: basing policy on evidence

Public policy paper

**INFORMATION FOR BETTER MARKETS INITIATIVE** 



The ICAEW Financial Reporting Faculty's *Information for Better Markets* thought leadership programme subjects key questions in business reporting to careful and impartial analysis so as to help achieve practical solutions to complex problems. The programme focuses on three themes: disclosure, measurement and regulation.

This report is the first in a series of short Public Policy Papers within the *Information for Better Markets* programme. Other reports in the series are currently planned to be:

- Long-term investment and accounting: overcoming short-term bias.
- Incentives and institutions in accounting: thinking beyond standards.
- Growth, development and accounting: seeing the bigger picture.

An online edition of each report will include an appendix summarising key relevant research.

The reports in this series are intended to contribute to a better understanding of the role of accounting in society, so that policy making is more soundly based. They are aimed at all who have an interest in public policy debates on whether and how financial reporting should be regulated.

ICAEW operates under a Royal Charter, working in the public interest. As a world leading professional accounting body, ICAEW provides leadership and practical support to over 144,000 members in more than 160 countries, working with governments, regulators and industry to ensure the highest standards are maintained.

The ICAEW Financial Reporting Faculty provides its members with practical assistance and support with IFRS, UK GAAP and other aspects of business reporting. It also comments on business reporting issues on behalf of ICAEW to standard setters and regulators.

We welcome comments and enquiries on this report and on the other aspects of the *Information for Better Markets* programme. To contact us or to learn more about our work, please email bettermarkets@icaew.com or visit icaew.com/bettermarkets

© ICAEW 2015

All rights reserved.

If you want to reproduce or redistribute any of the material in this publication, you should first get ICAEW's permission in writing. ICAEW will not be liable for any reliance you place on the information in this publication. You should seek independent advice.

# SME accounting requirements: basing policy on evidence

Public policy paper

INFORMATION FOR BETTER MARKETS INITIATIVE

## Contents



1	The problem	1			
	What is an SME?	2			
2					
	Whose costs and benefits? What costs and benefits?	3 4			
	What sort of requirements?	4			
3	Grounds for discrimination	5			
,	Size	5			
	Ownership	5			
	Liability	5			
	The benefits of uniformity	6			
4	Why SMEs are different	7			
5	IFRS for SMEs	8			
6	Research	9			
7	Conclusions and questions for further work	10			
	Acknowledgements	12			
APF	PENDIX: RESEARCH EVIDENCE				
<b>A1</b>	Introduction	14			
A2	Survey of EU requirements	16			
	Opinion surveys on the usefulness of financial reporting information	17			
	Accounting quality: evidence	19			
/	A4.1 US banks	19			
	A4.2 Other US firms	19			
	A4.3 European evidence	20			
	A4.4 Evidence from Taiwan	21			
	A4.5 Family firms	22			
<b>A5</b>	Benefits of financial reporting, accounting quality, and audit	23			
	A5.1 General points	23			
	A5.2 Cost of capital: US evidence	23			
	A5.3 Cost of capital: UK evidence A5.4 Cost of capital: Belgian evidence	24 24			
	A5.5 Cost of capital: Finnish evidence	25			
	A5.6 Cost of capital: Slovenian evidence	25			
	A5.7 Cost of capital: Taiwanese evidence	25			
	A5.8 Access to capital: international evidence	25			
	A5.9 Investment efficiency	26			
	A5.10 Audit and accounting quality	26			
<b>A6</b>	Determinants of voluntary audit and public filing choices	27			
	A6.1 Audit	27			
	A6.2 Audit and filing	27			
A -7	A6.3 Filing	28			
	Alternatives and complements to financial reporting 2				
	IFRS for SMEs 3				
Ref	erences	32			

## 1. The problem



How, if at all, should financial reporting by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) be regulated?

In this short report we look at the costs and benefits of regulating SMEs' financial reporting, at why SMEs may require a different regime from other businesses, and at what research can tell us about these questions. We conclude that the evidence available to date is insufficient to develop policies that are soundly based, and that a substantial programme of research is needed.

Financial reporting requirements for SMEs have varied widely in different countries at different times. Sometimes, at least when they are limited companies, SMEs have had to comply with substantially the same requirements as other limited companies, as was formerly the case in the UK. Sometimes they have been subject to no requirements at all, as currently in the US. Usually requirements have been set at some intermediate point on the spectrum.

One feature of interest in this wide diversity of practice is that, whatever the regime, it has not been based on empirical research evidence of what works and what does not. No doubt policy makers have often consulted widely before they introduced new requirements or removed existing ones, but the responses to such enquiries, while useful, are likely to lack the rigour of well-designed research. And sometimes policy makers have indeed commissioned research, which has no doubt been useful, but as far as we are aware it has always been on limited aspects of the question.

The lack of evidence may explain, at least to some extent, why different jurisdictions' responses to the issue vary so widely. In the absence of sound reasons to pursue any particular policy, different jurisdictions might well end up making widely varied, almost arbitrary, choices.

But there is another way of looking at the problem. Financial reporting requirements form part of a country's institutional infrastructure. They affect and are affected by their context: other institutions, markets, the levels of technology and education, and the availability of alternatives to financial reporting information. Financial reporting practices adjust to surrounding markets and institutions, and these in turn adjust to financial reporting practices. So people in one country who look with admiration at another country's requirements for SMEs, or the lack of them, may overlook not only how those requirements reflect the local context, but also how that context has itself adjusted to financial reporting practices or their absence.

For example, financial reporting information can play an important role in facilitating finance for SMEs. But where financial reporting information is missing, or of low quality, lenders and borrowers find ways around the problem. They develop relationships that allow informal information flows between borrowers and lenders. Or lenders compensate for lack of information by demanding security, or charging higher interest rates, or making loans of shorter maturity, or imposing more stringent monitoring.

Seen in this way, the wide variety of approaches to SME financial reporting requirements arguably reflects the wide variety of contexts in which they are embedded. Supporters of this view would argue that the variety of practice is a sign, not of ignorance and arbitrariness, but of well-considered adaptation to local environments.

Unfortunately, it remains the case that it is not well understood why we are where we are in relation to financial reporting requirements for SMEs. Jurisdictions around the world may conceivably have arrived at the ideal solutions for their particular circumstances without bothering with research-based policy making. But we do not have the evidence to say whether or not current solutions are ideal.

#### WHAT IS AN SME?

When people talk about SMEs they often have widely differing sizes of firm in mind. Sometimes the term is even applied to smaller listed companies. No doubt smaller listed companies are indeed very small by comparison with the largest listed companies but in this report we deal with private company SMEs, not listed ones. We use the term 'listed companies' to refer to companies whose securities are traded on regulated public markets.

Within the category of SMEs it is often useful to distinguish between medium-sized and small firms and, within the category of small firms, between micro firms and the rest. There is an element of arbitrariness about where the lines are drawn in such definitions. But the current EU thresholds will give readers an idea of what we have in mind in this report. These thresholds combine criteria based on turnover, gross assets and number of employees. The latest maximum turnover thresholds, for example, are €40m for a medium-sized firm, €12m for a small firm, and €0.7m for a micro.

To keep things simple, we do not distinguish among different sizes of SME in this report, although in practice it may well be useful to do so.

### 2. Costs and benefits



It is widely agreed that no single set of financial reporting requirements is appropriate for all types of business entity. It is also widely agreed, although sometimes only implicitly, that the general principle governing what requirements should be imposed and how they should discriminate among different classes of entity ought to be a cost-benefit test.

This underlying level of agreement is sometimes obscured by differences in immediate objectives. In one country, for example, the priority may be creditor protection, in another informing shareholders, and in another tax. But policy makers have to choose which objectives to adopt in the first place. And they usually wish to pursue a number of objectives simultaneously, so questions arise as to how to trade off one objective against another. These choices normally involve an implicit or explicit cost-benefit test.

While there seems to be agreement, therefore, on the general principle of a cost-benefit test, its implications are disputed – possibly, as suggested earlier, because the answers will vary significantly depending on the context. But costs and benefits can be difficult or even impossible to measure, which also leads people to arrive at differing conclusions.

In developing a framework for analysis, we need to answer a number of questions:

- whose costs and benefits should be taken into account?
- what costs and benefits are involved?
- what principles are relevant to discriminating between different classes of entity, eg, firms of different sizes or with different forms of ownership? We discuss this in Section 3.

#### WHOSE COSTS AND BENEFITS?

As setting financial reporting requirements is a question of public policy, in principle everybody's costs and benefits should be taken into account. If we simply ask what are the benefits and costs to SMEs of imposing requirements on them, our focus will be too narrow. Requirements of any sort (not just financial reporting) are rarely imposed on firms mainly for their own benefit; they are usually imposed primarily for others' benefit.

This raises questions about how far it is right to impose costs on one group for the benefit of another. We do not have space to go into these questions here, but they arise with all regulation, not just for SME accounting requirements.

Those with an interest in SME accounting requirements may conveniently be divided into six groups:

- 1. the firms that are subject to the requirements;
- 2. the firms' owners;
- 3. others who transact with the firms: eg, lenders, customers and suppliers including employees;
- 4. those who may be affected in some other way by the firms' activities competitors, for example;
- 5. government bodies, such as statistical offices, tax authorities, and policy makers, which rely on firms' financial reporting information; and
- 6. society as a whole, which has an interest in ensuring that the regulation of SMEs promotes, rather than retards, economic growth and development.

Firms that are subject to financial reporting requirements come into the third and fourth categories in relation to other firms. They may object to incurring costs to comply with requirements themselves, but benefit from their imposition on others.

#### WHAT COSTS AND BENEFITS?

#### Relevant costs include:

- the direct costs of preparing and disseminating financial reporting information. These
  include audit costs where the information is audited;
- the costs of using the information. Information takes time and skill to process, and different types and amounts of information or different ways of presenting it can affect these costs;
- the costs to users of obtaining information from other including private sources if it
  is not provided by financial reporting; and
- proprietary costs to the discloser ie, giving away information to competitors, weakening the discloser's position in contracting with other parties and loss of privacy, which may be particularly relevant to SMEs' financial reporting if the owner's income and the firm's profits are more or less the same thing.

#### Relevant benefits include:

- better information leading to greater efficiency and better decision making within the
  firm. Any properly run business even an SME needs accounting information, and
  financial reporting requirements may help ensure better accounting for management
  purposes. However, these benefits can be obtained without the information being
  made public it could be restricted to shareholders;
- protection of various parties' interests: for example, owners who might be exploited by managers; minority shareholders who might be exploited by majority shareholders. This should lead to, among other things, greater trust between the firm and those with whom it transacts, leading to more transactions and/or transactions at lower cost: eg, easier access to finance and a lower cost of capital;
- better information leading to better decision making by those outside the business, including investors and governments;
- more accurate assessments by tax authorities; and
- more generally, it could be argued that a society with more extensive and reliable disclosures is more transparent and less vulnerable to fraud and other forms of financial dishonesty.

Of these five benefits, the first is a benefit to the reporting firm and so it should arguably be up to the firm to decide whether the benefit is worth the associated costs. The second can be a benefit to the firm (lower cost of capital etc) but is not necessarily so. Even where benefits accrue to the firm rather than to others, there may be a case for regulation where this saves costs overall, eg, because uniform requirements avoid the costs that would be incurred if every firm had to agree with its stakeholders what it should do.

It will be noted, however, that a number of the prospective benefits of financial reporting requirements are to parties other than the firms that have to comply with them.

#### WHAT SORT OF REQUIREMENTS?

There are a number of distinct questions as to what sort of financial reporting requirements should apply to SMEs.

- Should SMEs be required to produce financial statements at all?
- If so, what information should they contain?
- Should they be audited?
- Should they be publicly available?

Although to some extent these questions are interdependent, as far as possible the costs and benefits of imposing requirements need to be considered for each of them separately.

## 3. Grounds for discrimination



The main grounds for discrimination among firms in setting financial reporting requirements are size, ownership and liability.

#### SIZE

The relative costs of financial reporting vary with size because of economies of scale. There are economies of scale both in preparing and in auditing financial reporting information, so its costs tend to be proportionately higher for SMEs. The benefits of financial reporting vary with size principally because on average the larger the firm, the more money is at stake and the greater the number of people who transact with it and are otherwise affected by its activities.

#### **OWNERSHIP**

A distinction is commonly made in financial reporting requirements between listed companies and privately held companies, including SMEs, with significantly more extensive requirements imposed on listed companies. Insofar as the distinction is based on ownership, it has two related aspects: separation of management and ownership, and widely dispersed ownership.

Separation of ownership and management. Financial reporting by businesses is basically reporting by the firm's managers to its owners, although others may well be interested in using its accounts. In an SME, the firm's owners and managers are usually the same people, so the basic purpose of financial reporting becomes less clear, and the calculus of costs and benefits is fundamentally different from where ownership and management are separate. But in some SMEs managers and owners are different people. With the growth of crowdfunding and employee share schemes, this may happen more frequently in future.

Widely dispersed ownership. The ownership of listed companies is typically widely dispersed, with shares bought and sold by members of the public. It is difficult for a widely dispersed group to exercise effective control of managers, including agreeing on financial reporting requirements with which managers should comply. Externally imposed, standardised reporting requirements are therefore a way of making widely dispersed ownership more attractive. This should benefit both owners and firms. Owners benefit as they are less likely to be exploited and are better able to exercise control over managers. Firms benefit as they should be able to raise capital at lower cost if information asymmetries are removed.

For SMEs, ownership is usually concentrated, but there have always been exceptions – where, for example, family ownership of a business becomes fragmented with time. And, again, the growth of crowdfunding and employee share schemes may make dispersed ownership of SMEs more common than in the past.

#### LIABILITY

There is a view that publication of accounts is the price of limited liability. The argument is that limited liability is a privilege that advantages shareholders at the expense of creditors. To protect creditors from being exploited, there may need to be requirements to make publicly available information that allows them to form a view on the company's capacity to pay its debts. Implicit in this argument is a contrast between the position of shareholders in a limited liability company and that of owners who have unlimited liability (sole proprietors, partners in an unlimited partnership or shareholders in an unlimited company). Businesses whose owners have unlimited liability should not be required to publish accounts as there is no reason why they should pay the publicity 'price' of limited liability.

The argument that publication of accounts is the price of limited liability is not universally accepted. In a number of countries, limited liability SMEs make minimal public accounting disclosures (if any), and there is no need for their accounts to be audited. If other parties do not wish to contract with a firm whose shareholders have limited liability, they are not compelled to do so. In practice, lenders often overcome the problem of limited liability by requiring some form of security from the firm's owners. They may also require access to unpublished management information about the borrower.

It is not clear in any case that the distinction between owners with and without limited liability should be decisive. Creditors' money is at risk (although perhaps to a lesser extent) even where a debtor has unlimited liability, and creditors' need for information exists in both cases.

It could be argued that, where creditor protection depends on the individuals behind a business, there should be public disclosures by these individuals. But we are aware of only three countries (Finland, Norway and Sweden) where it is generally regarded as acceptable to impose public accountability disclosures on individuals, and even in these countries it is only taxable income that is disclosed, not a full set of financial information. The motive behind these disclosures is the maintenance of public confidence in the integrity of the tax system. The disclosures may also be useful to creditors but this is not their purpose.

In the rest of the world, a person's income and financial position are seen as private matters, and the costs of breaching privacy in this respect are seen as outweighing any benefits to creditors (or to the transparency of the tax system) that might accrue from the publication of personal financial information.

**Public interest entities.** It is widely accepted that where firms (eg, banks) take deposits from members of the public or engage in similar activities that involve significant liabilities to members of the public (eg, insurers), this justifies, for the protection of depositors and others in a similar position, more extensive financial reporting requirements than would otherwise be the case. Entities of this sort, where outsiders need special protection, are usually regarded as public interest entities.

Where an SME is also a public interest entity (eg, an SME that is also a bank) this trumps the argument that SMEs should enjoy a lighter regulatory regime. Such public interest entities are outside the scope of this report.

#### THE BENEFITS OF UNIFORMITY

The benefits of differentiating financial reporting requirements among types and sizes of firm vary from case to case, but there are some costs of differentiation that apply in principle in all cases.

These are that differentiation:

- introduces additional complexity into the system as a whole, meaning that some users and auditors (among others), have to learn about multiple sets of accounting requirements; and
- reduces the comparability of financial reporting information. This is true not only between different categories of firm where they are subject to different requirements, but within a category of firms where there are no requirements. The question in relation to many SMEs, though, is: 'Who, if anyone, is making comparisons?'

It might be argued that ideally financial reporting requirements would be finely divided to discriminate among different types of firm according to size, ownership and liability. But there is also merit in simplicity (for those who have to apply requirements and for those who use the information they produce), and in not having too many different categories of financial reporting requirements or requirements that are too complex. In thinking about this, we should not consider SMEs in isolation.

## 4. Why SMEs are different



It is clear from the considerations we have just outlined that a good case can be made in principle for having significantly less extensive financial reporting requirements for SMEs, or even none at all.

- Because of their size, the costs of meeting financial reporting requirements fall on SMEs proportionately more heavily, while the benefits are likely to be much less than for larger firms.
- Typically they are owner-managed, their ownership is not widely dispersed, and their shares are not bought and sold by members of the public, so the benefits of financial reporting are likely to be much less than for listed companies. This raises questions as to whether size is the most appropriate criterion for discriminating among different types of firm in setting financial reporting requirements. Perhaps ownership, or some other criterion, would be more appropriate?

#### On the other hand:

- SMEs do not exist hermetically sealed off from the rest of the world. They have
  customers and suppliers, they may have employees, they may have minority
  shareholders or shareholders who are not necessarily involved in managing the
  business, they may borrow money, and they pay taxes. All these interactions imply at
  least some potential benefits from financial reporting.
- Where SMEs are limited liability entities there is a stronger argument for ensuring that those who may lose out as a result of this status ie, lenders and trade creditors are properly informed.

In short, and particularly when we take into consideration all the factors listed in our discussion, there is a complex array of arguments on the regulation of SMEs' financial reporting, which on a priori grounds might justify full regulation, laissez faire, or anything in-between. To further complicate matters, the right answers will almost certainly differ from country to country and over time, depending on differences in other institutions, markets, levels of technology and education, and what alternatives to financial reporting information are available. This is eminently a topic on which empirical research is needed.

### 5. IFRS for SMEs

IFRS for SMEs: International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities, was issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in 2009. The standard makes clear that it is not in fact aimed at SMEs, but at private companies regardless of size that are not public interest entities. This is logical as full IFRS is aimed at **listed** companies rather than at **large** companies. The standard was prepared primarily to address the concerns of countries that had adopted IFRS for all companies, but felt that this imposed undue burdens on many firms, particularly SMEs.

As the *IFRS* for *SMEs* acknowledges, which entities it applies to in practice depends, as with full IFRS, on the decisions of governments and regulators. Jurisdictions have responded to the standard in different ways but it has been adopted or adapted in a number of countries as the basis for accounting requirements for private companies including, sometimes with additional modifications, SMEs.

It will be interesting to see how adaptations of the standard vary from country to country in response to local differences in the context of financial reporting. Such adaptations have already been made in the UK, for example.

### 6. Research



There is a good deal of interesting and useful research evidence on private company financial reporting, some of it specific to SMEs, but much of it wider in scope or focused on larger private companies. The research includes work on the effects of having an audit. We summarise this evidence in the appendix.

Valuable though this research is, it tells us remarkably little about the effects of regulating or deregulating SME financial reporting. Such research would require comparisons of the costs and benefits of different regulatory regimes and/or measurements of the costs and benefits experienced as a result of changes in regulation. Extant research looks instead at such questions as:

- whether financial reporting by SMEs leads to a lower cost of borrowing;
- whether owner-managers of SMEs find their statutory accounts useful in running the business:
- whether directors of SMEs think that their statutory accounts are useful to users;
- whether firms prepare accounts in accordance with GAAP when they are not required to do so; and
- whether firms still have an audit once it becomes voluntary.

All these studies are useful but they provide only a fraction of the evidence that would ideally be available in formulating policy.

Why is there so little relevant research?

- The data that provide the raw materials for most accounting researchers' work do not exist for SMEs. There are, for example, no stock market prices, no share trading data, no analysts' forecasts, no cost of equity capital or market liquidity data.
- What information there is on SMEs is often not publicly available. The trend towards deregulation in some jurisdictions has exacerbated this problem.
- Listed companies are a more glamorous topic of research. These are the companies that are in the headlines every day; SMEs are not.
- The US tends to lead the world in accounting research, and the absence there of any regulation of SME financial reporting means that there is little interest in the US in its effects. This attitude is likely to affect researchers in the rest of the world who aspire to international recognition for their work.

There is, however, a long tradition of research into international financial reporting differences, which has usually focused on listed companies. Some of this work will no doubt be helpful in understanding how SME financial reporting requirements have developed differently around the world.

It is not only in relation to SME accounting requirements that there is insufficient research to make soundly based policy decisions; the same is often true even for listed companies. The problem is particularly stark for SMEs but by no means restricted to them.

## 7. Conclusions and questions for further work

Public policy debates on SME financial reporting requirements are not well informed. In the present state of knowledge a variety of conflicting claims are all possible but essentially independent of the evidence. It might therefore be claimed, with equal plausibility in each case, that:

- deregulating SME financial reporting has a deleterious effect on business decision making, on SMEs' access to finance, on the tax system, and on financial honesty in society generally; or
- · SME financial reporting could be totally deregulated without any ill effects; or
- each jurisdiction has developed financial reporting requirements for SMEs that suit its own particular circumstances.

We believe that there is a need for substantial research on the effects of regulating and deregulating SME financial reporting. The broad objectives would be to compare the costs and benefits of different regulatory regimes and to measure the costs and benefits experienced as a result of changes in regulation.

Given the close relationship between SME financial reporting requirements and their varying contexts in different jurisdictions, general challenges for research in this area are:

- How can we make judgements about the costs and benefits of one element of a system eg, financial reporting requirements for SMEs, separately from judgements on the system as a whole eg, the institutional framework supporting the provision of finance to business?
- How can we make judgements about the costs and benefits of a system as a whole?

More specific questions include the following.

- Are size criteria the most appropriate basis for discriminating among firms in setting
  financial reporting requirements or would other criteria be more appropriate? Other
  relevant criteria might be: ownership, creditor protection, or use of accounts for tax
  purposes.
- What are the costs to SMEs of different degrees of financial reporting regulation?
- Do financial reporting requirements for SMEs lead to a lower cost of capital or to better access to capital?
- Do financial reporting requirements for SMEs lead to better management accounting and so to better management?
- What, if anything, is the evidence of market failure (eg, inability to raise capital) in countries where there are no requirements for financial reporting by SMEs?
- What financial reporting information do operators of crowdfunding websites require?
- · What are the effects of their requirements?
- How far does comparability matter for SME accounts?
- Where SME financial reporting is unregulated or deregulated, does this result in higher tax compliance costs for firms or higher costs for the tax authorities or a less effective system of taxation?
- Where SME financial reporting is unregulated or deregulated, does this result in higher levels of fraud or higher fraud prevention costs?
- In countries where there is disclosure by individuals of their taxable income, does this help protect creditors of SMEs?



The answers to these questions will almost certainly vary from country to country, and it is important to understand how well or badly each country's requirements fit its own particular context. But through answering these questions it will be possible to begin to understand how SME financial reporting requirements can best be designed to fit a particular set of local circumstances. At the moment, policy making on this subject is essentially guesswork.

This sets a number of challenges for policy makers, accounting researchers, and others who are interested in the public policy debate on SME accounting requirements. We would welcome comments on this report and its conclusions; please send them to bettermarkets@icaew.com.

## Acknowledgements

ICAEW is grateful to the following commentators for providing helpful reactions in a personal capacity to drafts of this report and the appendix.

Malcolm Bacchus Kathryn Cearns Mark Clatworthy Jill Collis Elisabeth Dedman Annita Florou Robert Hodgkinson Peter Hollis Robin Jarvis

David Matthews Michael Minnis

MICHAEL MITHIS

Danielle Stewart

Aljosa Valentincic

Teri Lombardi Yohn

None of the commentators should be assumed to agree with the views expressed in this report or the appendix, and they are not responsible for any errors or omissions.

The principal author of the report and appendix is Brian Singleton-Green.



# SME accounting requirements: basing policy on evidence

Appendix: research evidence

## A1. Introduction

In Section 6 of the report, we note that empirical research tells us remarkably little about the effects of regulating or deregulating SME financial reporting. This is not a criticism of the research, which does not in general set out to investigate the relevant costs and benefits.

In this appendix we summarise recent research relevant to SME financial reporting that we are aware of, but some of it is of only tangential relevance to assessing the costs and benefits of regulation. We also include research on private firms and family-owned firms that are not necessarily SMEs. The fact that they are private or family-owned may at least mean, though, that they have something in common with SMEs. We might expect, for example, that where research finds financial reporting differences between listed companies and large private companies, the same differences would be found between listed companies and SMEs, but to an even greater extent. However, the one paper that we report below that looks at the point specifically does not support this assumption.

Many of the studies either identify specific benefits of financial reporting (eg, some people find the information it produces useful) or of financial reporting quality (eg, it leads to a lower cost of capital) or explore what firms do in the absence of requirements (eg, a proportion of them have an audit anyway). Such studies are helpful, but they only give us part of the picture.

- That financial reporting, or financial reporting quality, has benefits is not in itself an
  argument for imposing financial reporting requirements, or for mandating a certain
  level of quality.
- Benefits in any case need to be compared with their costs, which is not always done in the research that identifies the benefits.
- Evidence on what firms do in the absence of requirements is ambiguous in terms of its
  policy implications. On the one hand, if firms do what would otherwise be required,
  it can be argued that the imposition of requirements would not impose significant
  additional costs. On the other hand, it can be argued that if firms do anyway what
  would otherwise be required, requirements are superfluous.

There is an international market for accounting research about listed companies, which is catered for by papers written in English. Accounting for SMEs is of more local interest, and there is doubtless important research on the subject in languages other than English of which we are not aware. A more comprehensive survey of the literature on the subject would therefore need to look at non-English language work as well as at less recent research.<sup>1</sup>

The structure of the remainder of this appendix is as follows.

- Section A2 draws attention to a survey of SME accounting requirements in Europe.
- Presumably because of the data problems that we refer to in the report, an unusually high proportion of research on the benefits of SME financial reporting information is based on opinion surveys. We review some of these in Section A3.
- Section A4 summarises some harder evidence on the relative accounting quality
  of private firms (v listed firms), although the private firms in question are usually
  not SMEs. In general it finds that even where they are subject to the same financial
  reporting requirements, private companies show lower accounting quality, which
  reflects the relative lack of demand they face for high quality financial reporting
  information. This section also includes some papers that look at private company
  accounting quality in isolation, ie, without comparing it to that of listed companies.

<sup>1</sup> With one exception all the research papers referred to in this appendix have been published since 2000. Collis and Jarvis (2000) include a review of the earlier UK literature on accounting by SMEs.



- This does not mean that SMEs derive no benefits from financial reporting or from
  financial reporting quality. Section A5 summarises the evidence on this (again, some
  of it relates to larger private companies rather than SMEs). Most of it refers to the
  cost of capital, which for SMEs is in practice the cost of borrowing, while one paper
  looks at private companies' investment efficiency.
- There are several papers looking at why firms choose to have an audit. While this does not constitute hard evidence of the benefits of audit, it suggests assuming firms make rational choices where benefits might be expected to be found. Two papers look at why firms choose to file or not to file full accounts (ie, to make them public). We review all these papers in Section A6.
- The utility of financial reporting information depends in part on the surrounding information environment. Section A7 draws attention to two papers looking at information that either complements or provides an alternative to financial reporting information.
- Section A8 looks at evidence on the appropriateness of the IFRS for SMEs for adoption in the EU.

## A2. Survey of EU requirements

**CNA Interpreta (2011)**, a consultancy report for the European Commission, is a survey of SME accounting requirements across the EU, covering 20 countries, and of opinions on them. As well as limited companies, the study covers limited and unlimited partnerships and sole proprietorships. It also gives the results of an opinion survey of users, preparers and accounting professionals.

## A3. Opinion surveys on the usefulness of financial reporting information

There is conflicting evidence, based on surveys, on how far UK SME owner-managers think their statutory accounts are useful. Much of this evidence focuses on their utility (or lack of it) in running the business.

Collis and Jarvis (2000) look at, among other things, what information the owner-managers of small UK businesses use to run the business. The firms in their sample have a turnover of between £0.5m and £4.2m a year.<sup>2</sup> They find that: 'The statutory accounts of small companies are not considered to be useful in comparison with other sources of information that might be available for managing the company... The most useful sources of information for managing the company are the periodic management accounts, cash flow information, bank statements and budgets.'

Collis et al (2000), however, using a narrower sample of small companies – firms with turnover between £1.0m and £2.8m – find that the annual report and accounts are rated more highly, coming second in usefulness for management purposes behind only the management accounts. For medium-sized companies, turnover between £2.8m and £11.2m, their findings match those of Collis and Jarvis (2000), with the annual report and accounts rated as only the fifth most useful source of information.

Collis and Jarvis (2000) also find that: 'Financial reporting is seen as serving a confirmatory function and the audit report as increasing the reliability of the information contained in the accounts.' Financial reporting therefore exercises a disciplinary role in relation to the firm's management information. They also find that 69% of the companies in the sample send their statutory accounts to their bank or to other providers of finance. In addition, they find that 52% of respondents read the accounts of other companies (which are not necessarily SMEs), principally those of competitors (33%) but also those of major customers (24%) and major suppliers/creditors (15%).

Collis and Jarvis (2002), using the same sample as Collis and Jarvis (2000), also find that financial reporting information does not rate highly in terms of managing the firm, but the authors find that it plays a role, '...in the context of maintaining relations with the bank'. Other findings include that the preparation of statutory accounts creates an opportunity for the provision of advice by external accountants.

**Collis (2008)** is a survey of directors' views, commissioned by the UK government ahead of possible relaxations in audit and accounting requirements. The sample is of directors of small and medium-sized companies. Findings include that, '...more than half the directors (56%) considered the published accounts are useful to users. The main user groups – in the directors' opinion – are creditors (64%), credit rating agencies (62%) and the bank/lenders (46%).' On audit: 'The directors perceived the main benefits of having the accounts audited were a check on accounting records and systems (74% agreed), improving internal controls (44% agreed) and the positive effect on the credit rating score (44% agreed).'

**Kitching et al (2013)** obtain the views of UK SME accounts users and preparers on the filing of abbreviated accounts. Findings include that, 'Credit management professionals insisted that limited disclosure leads stakeholders to act cautiously, with adverse consequences for small companies – as seekers or beneficiaries of client orders, credit, riskrating and credit insurance decisions. Several respondents reported that, all other things being equal, companies with known turnover and profit data, both available in statutory full accounts, would be more likely to obtain a superior credit rating than others, unless

<sup>2</sup> In this appendix we simplify matters by referring only to turnover in defining UK small companies. In fact, as noted in the report, the statutory criteria across the EU refer to turnover, balance sheet size and the number of employees, and companies have to fall below at least two of the three thresholds to be classified as small. The thresholds have been raised periodically, so different research papers refer to different turnover thresholds, depending on when the research was done. Similar requirements, but with higher thresholds, apply in defining UK medium-sized companies.

the published figures reveal poor performance.' On the other hand, '...none of the ... small company respondents reported losing customers or being unable to access sufficient finance because they filed abbreviated accounts'.

The authors stress that financial reporting requirements have benefits as well as costs. They note that: 'Most [research] studies emphasise the burdens, costs and constraints that regulation imposes ..., which are assumed to deter start-up, investment, innovation and growth. Studies rarely consider whether regulation might enable small enterprises to act in ways that benefit them'.

The pan-European opinion survey in **CNA Interpreta (2011)** found: '...a generally low interest in the Survey on the part of the Respondents. Many of the Respondents declared not to make use of accounting documentation to evaluate other entities. In fact, the information deemed necessary (especially for verifying the solvency and good standing of third parties) is often acquired through alternative/additional channels (ie, commercial reports and/or banking information, etc)'.

## A4. Accounting quality: evidence



Firms may produce financial reporting information but potential users will not necessarily believe it:

'I do not rely on official facts and figures. You know they are affected by the tax strategy. Asset value, work in progress, inventory – all rubbish. They are always adjusted. You know there are costs and revenues that are not recorded in the books. Entrepreneurs disclose them if you exert some pressure but you have no proof.' Bank manager lending to SMEs in north-east Italy, quoted in Howorth and Moro (2012).

A number of papers look at the accounting quality of private companies and compare it with that of listed companies. In order to make valid comparisons between the two classes of company, it could be argued that the size of firms in each category has to be matched. As a result, SMEs are often excluded from the samples of private companies. The general import of the papers' findings is that financial reporting quality is lower in private companies than in listed companies. Beatty and Harris (1998) and Beatty et al (2002) are exceptions. The authors of the first of these papers in effect suggest that listed firms engage in earnings management in order to provide the market with useful information.

#### A4.1 US BANKS

Several papers compare financial reporting by listed and privately held banks in the US. Banking regulation in the US means that more data is available for private companies in this sector than in others.

Beatty and Harris (1998) compare earnings management in US listed and privately held banks using data for 1991-1992. They find that '...public banks consistently engage in more earnings management than private banks'. But they also find that '...the portion of [the public banks'] current period securities gains and losses attributable to earnings management is more positively associated with next period's earnings before securities gains and losses'. This suggests that the additional earnings management by listed banks is intended to provide useful information to investors about the firms' future performance, consistent with the greater information asymmetry between managers and investors in listed v private firms.

Beatty et al (2002) compare earnings management in US listed and privately held banks using data for 1988-1998. They find that '...public banks report more small increases and fewer small declines in earnings than private banks'. They also find that '...public banks are more likely than private banks to use income-increasing discretionary loan loss provisions and realized security gains and losses to transform small declines in earnings before discretion to small increases in reported earnings'. The authors suggest that this is because the stock market tends to reward consistent earnings growth and to punish declines in earnings. Managers of private companies are unaffected by such incentives.

Nichols et al (2009) compare conditional conservatism in listed and privately held US banks using data for the period 1990-2003. They find that '...public banks exhibit greater ... conditional conservatism in accounting (the asymmetric timeliness of gain and loss recognition<sup>3</sup>) than private banks'. They also find that '...public banks record larger and timelier loan loss provisions with respect to changes in non-performing loans than private banks'.

#### **A4.2 OTHER US FIRMS**

Hope et al (2013) use a database of information on US private firms, which they note is, '...slanted toward larger private companies'. The authors compare various aspects of accounting quality in US listed and private firms for a sample covering the period 2001-2009. They find that listed firms 'have higher accrual quality and report more conservatively'.

3 That is, losses are recognised sooner than gains.

#### **A4.3 EUROPEAN EVIDENCE**

More extensive regulation of private company financial reporting in Europe means that there is more data there for comparisons between listed and private companies.

**Ball and Shivakumar (2005)** compare one attribute of the earnings quality of UK private companies and listed companies for a sample covering the period 1990-2000. The attribute they look at is timely loss recognition, which they find is '...substantially less prevalent in private companies than in public companies, despite the groups facing equivalent regulatory rules'.

Although this suggests that private company financial reporting is of lower quality, the authors emphasise that: 'Lower quality does not imply sub-optimality because it can arise from either lower demand for or higher cost of supplying quality. Our findings thus should not be interpreted as supporting stricter regulation of financial reporting by private firms. Quite the contrary: our hypothesis is that lower earnings quality in private firms is an optimal outcome in the market for financial reporting'. This is because private companies '...are less likely to use public financial statements in contracting with lenders, managers and other parties, and in primary and secondary equity transactions... These differences imply a demand for lower quality financial reporting'.

**Burgstahler et al (2006)** compare levels of earnings management in private and listed companies from 13 EU countries for a sample covering the period 1997-2003. They find that private firms, '...exhibit higher levels of earnings management'.

**Peek et al (2010)**, using data from 13 European countries for the period 1993-2000, find that listed firms show more asymmetric timeliness of gain and loss recognition than private firms. They find that this is due to the demands of creditors of listed firms. They argue that this reflects the relatively greater dependence of listed firm lenders on public financial reporting information v private, relationship-based information. The strength of creditor demand in a country is measured by the strength of the protection the country provides for creditors.

**Goncharov and Zimmermann (2006)**, looking at a sample of listed and private Russian companies for 2001-2002, find that both types of firm manage earnings downwards to reduce taxes, but that private companies do so more than listed companies. This is consistent with listed companies having incentives for higher quality financial reporting that are absent for private companies.

Liu and Skerratt (2015) look at the earnings quality of a sample of UK companies for the period 2006-2013. The authors compare listed, large private, medium-sized, small and micro companies. Micro companies did not in fact exist as a separate legal category during the period covered by the paper, but the authors use the size thresholds subsequently introduced to identify companies as micros. The sample is restricted to companies that filed full accounts, as opposed to abbreviated accounts, and so is not necessarily representative of SMEs as a whole. Earnings quality is measured by smoothness of earnings, ie, the smoother the earnings, the lower the earnings quality.

#### The authors find that:

'...the earnings of listed companies have the highest quality... This is closely followed by small and micro companies. In contrast, the smoothing behaviour of large private and medium sized companies is approximately six times as large as listed companies and four times as large as small and micro companies.'

It would be interesting to see whether similar results are obtained in other jurisdictions.



The following papers look at the accounting quality of private companies but without making a comparison with listed companies.

Income smoothing is usually seen as an indicator of low accounting quality. There is evidence that in private firms it is affected by the level of debt-finance and by different country regimes for debt financing. Using a sample of private companies from 24 European countries for the period 1998-2007, **Gassen and Fülbier (2015)** find that, '... smoothness of earnings [is] positively related,' to the extent to which firms are debt-financed. This '...relation [is] more pronounced in regimes with higher bankruptcy and contract enforcement costs.' They also find that '...earnings smoothness is related negatively to the cost of debt', ie, the smoother the earnings, the lower the cost of debt.

A series of papers shows that, in jurisdictions where this is possible, SMEs use asset write-downs to reduce their tax bills. **Garrod et al (2008)** and **Kosi and Valentincic (2013)** look at evidence from Slovenian SMEs, for 2003 and 2004-2005 respectively, **Szczesny and Valentincic (2013)** look at evidence from German SMEs. In Slovenia the tax law was changed with effect from 2005 to stop this happening. Szczesny and Valentincic (2013) also find a correlation between asset write-downs, profitability and dividend payments, suggesting that firms tend to use write-downs in more profitable years to boost earnings in other years, thereby maintaining dividend cover.

**Goncharov and Zimmermann (2007)**, looking at a sample of Russian private companies for the period 1999-2004, find that firms manage earnings in response to banks' monitoring activities.

**Bigus et al (2015)** examine the effects of legal form on financial reporting using a sample of small German firms for the period 1996-2004. The sample includes incorporated and unincorporated firms (one-person businesses and partnerships). All these legal forms have to report according to German GAAP. The authors find '...significantly higher levels of income smoothing, conservatism and timely loss recognition with corporations than with one-person businesses or partnerships... In addition, corporations are more likely to disclose a small profit than one-person businesses or partnerships.'

The authors attribute their findings principally to the different positions of incorporated and unincorporated firms in relation to lenders. As lenders have recourse to the assets of the owners of unincorporated firms, but not – without additional agreed terms – to the assets of the owners of incorporated firms, the latter have stronger incentives to use financial reporting to maintain lenders' confidence and to protect lenders' interests. They do this by avoiding volatility and losses (income smoothing and small loss avoidance), yet at the same time adopting more conservative accounting, which protects lenders' interests both by reducing payouts to owners (and possibly to managers) and by alerting them in a more timely manner to potential problems at the borrower.

The logic of the authors' argument implies that the phenomena they detect among incorporated businesses should be less pronounced among those incorporated firms where lenders do have recourse to the owners' assets because the owners have provided security for the loans. It would be interesting to investigate this.

#### **A4.4 EVIDENCE FROM TAIWAN**

Before 2001 all Taiwanese private companies above a certain size (based on contributed capital, which is not a particularly good measure of a firm's size) were required to prepare and file financial statements. From 2001 this became voluntary. For the period 1997-2005 **Chi et al (2013)** compare the quality of financial reporting of listed companies, private company 'voluntary' reporters (ie, private companies that continued financial reporting after 2001) and private company 'non-voluntary' reporters (ie, private companies that stopped financial reporting after it became voluntary – at which point their financial

reporting data are therefore no longer available). The size thresholds for the private company reporting requirements mean that most SMEs would have been exempt.

The authors find that:

'...the quality of financial reporting, based on the propensity to report small positive earnings, conservatism, abnormal accruals, earnings smoothness, and auditor choices, is higher for voluntary reporting firms than for non-voluntary reporting firms... Further, voluntary reporting firms also have better corporate governance practice than non-voluntary reporting firms. The differences in reporting quality and corporate governance translate into a lower cost of debt for voluntary reporting firms. Finally, publicly listed firms appear to have the highest reporting quality and the best corporate governance practice, and therefore the lowest cost of debt'.

The majority of the voluntary reporters in the sample were subsequently listed. So – assuming that they would have had this objective in mind for some years before they obtained a listing – this would presumably, as the authors point out, have affected their financial reporting and corporate governance choices.

#### **A4.5 FAMILY FIRMS**

Contrary to what might be expected, there is evidence from various countries that family firms (not necessarily SMEs) show higher reporting quality. 'Family companies' are a difficult-to-define category, and are usually defined in a way that includes listed companies where there is a dominant family. Definitions can also vary across countries. The majority of the research surveyed in **Prencipe et al (2014)**, a review paper, finds that family ownership is associated with higher accounting quality – a surprising result given the generally accepted view that the incentives for high-quality financial reporting are reduced where firms are dominated by a small group of insiders. The papers discussed by **Cascino et al (2013)**, who provide a briefer review on this particular topic, give a similar picture on balance.

Comparisons between family companies and non-family companies are easiest for listed companies, so these research findings may well not apply to SMEs, but they do at least suggest that the effects of family ownership on financial reporting are unpredictable and need to be researched rather than assumed.

## A5. Benefits of financial reporting, accounting quality, and audit



#### **A5.1 GENERAL POINTS**

Financial reporting information should reduce information asymmetries between firms and their providers of finance. This should, among other things, mean that firms on average have a lower cost of capital as capital providers' uncertainties are reduced. For some firms, of course, better information will mean a higher cost of capital as their real prospects and risks become clearer.

Equity capital for SMEs is usually but not necessarily provided by insiders and we are unaware of any research relating its cost to the availability of financial reporting information.

The major practical financing issue for SMEs seems to be the availability and cost of debt, and there are a number of research papers, which we summarise below, looking at the relationship between financial reporting and the cost of debt for SMEs. Where financial reporting information is unavailable or of low quality, we may expect (as noted at Section 1 of the report) that lenders and borrowers will develop alternative sources of information, eg, through informal relationships. Lenders are also likely to compensate for information deficiencies in various ways: a higher rate of interest is one way of doing so, but collateral requirements, shorter loan maturities, and tougher monitoring are others. Cost of capital is therefore only one aspect of the question.

Incidentally, 'relationship' banking, an important alternative to banking based on financial reporting information, does not necessarily reduce the cost of borrowing. Firms in such relationships may well be exploited by their banks, which take the opportunity to charge them a higher rate of interest. See, eq. Hernández-Cánovas and Martínez-Solano (2010).

#### **A5.2 COST OF CAPITAL: US EVIDENCE**

US firms, unless they come within the SEC's requirements, are in general not required to prepare financial statements, but many do so voluntarily. Allee and Yohn (2009) look at a sample of small private firms in the US for 2003-2004. Small firms are defined as those with fewer than 500 employees (by comparison, the EU limit for SMEs is 250 employees). The firms in the sample are not all limited companies. The number of limited companies in the sample is not stated, but the proportion with some form of limited liability (ie, limited liability companies and limited liability partnerships) is 52%.

For the sample as a whole, only 20% of firms prepare financial statements. For limited liability firms, the proportion is not stated, but appears to be only 25%. And 'financial statements' are not what they might be assumed to be as only 49% of the firms that prepare financial statements do so using accrual accounting; the majority (by a small margin) presumably do cash accounting. The authors find that interest rates for '...firms that issue accrual-based financial statements are almost 70 basis points lower than the rates for other firms'.

For US private companies (not necessarily SMEs) that voluntarily choose an audit, this choice is also associated with higher accounting quality and lower borrowing costs. **Minnis (2011)** looks at whether providing voluntarily audited financial statements affects the cost of borrowing for US private companies. He finds that '...firms with audited financial statements have a significantly lower cost of debt by 69 basis points'. He also finds that: 'The expertise (and independence) extended by third party accountants appears to be particularly fruitful in the accrual estimation process as I find evidence that accruals are better predictors of future cash flow for audited firms.'

#### **A5.3 COST OF CAPITAL: UK EVIDENCE**

There is evidence that UK SMEs that voluntarily choose an audit have higher accounting quality and higher credit rating scores. These should translate into a lower cost of borrowing, although the two papers below do not investigate this.

**Lennox and Pittman (2011)** look at the signalling effect of retaining or not retaining an audit for firms where the audit requirement is removed. Their sample is UK firms with turnover between £1.0m and £5.6m, for which the audit became voluntary in 2004; firms that file abbreviated accounts are excluded. They look at the effect of the change on third-party credit ratings, which use a 100-point scale.

The authors find that: 'After auditing becomes voluntary, the companies that remain audited receive a two-point boost to their ratings, while unaudited companies suffer a four-point reduction'. Assuming that the audit itself remains substantially unchanged for those companies that retain it, the implication is that '...these companies enjoy ratings upgrades because their decision to remain audited conveys an incrementally positive signal about their credit risk'. For companies that abandon the audit, however, the ratings downgrade reflects two things: '...the decision to abandon the audit not only communicates that the company is likely to be a high-risk type of borrower but also sacrifices the assurance that had been provided under the mandatory regime'. The authors argue that the presence of an audit requirement prevented firms from signalling their quality via their audit choices.

Lennox and Pittman (2011) also find that '...the opt-out companies were only passively complying with the audit requirement – evident in their attempts to reduce costs through auditor choice and fees – under the mandatory regime'. This parallels the findings of Ball and Shivakumar (2005) regarding reporting quality and perhaps might also be seen as an optimal outcome under a regulatory regime, rather than as an indication that tougher regulation is required. It also suggests that there was at least some signalling of quality even in the presence of an audit requirement.

Dedman and Kausar (2012) also look at small UK firms that became eligible for exemption from the statutory audit requirement in 2004. The sample excludes companies that filed abbreviated accounts. The authors find that '...firms which retain the audit enjoy significantly higher credit [rating] scores than those which opt out of audit', even though the opt-out firms report higher profits. In addition, they find that '...Opt-out firms recognise income-increasing events more quickly and income-decreasing events more slowly than audited firms. Similarly, opt-out firms report lower levels of income-decreasing accruals and higher levels of income-increasing accruals, than those firms which retain the audit'. The authors suggest that the difference in accounting quality may explain why opt-out firms report higher profits but get lower credit rating scores.

#### **A5.4 COST OF CAPITAL: BELGIAN EVIDENCE**

Van Caneghem and Van Campenhout (2012) do not measure cost of capital, but their findings are arguably relevant to it. They look at data for Belgian private company SMEs for 2007. They find that '...both information quantity and quality are positively related to SME leverage'. Information quantity is measured by whether a firm files full or abbreviated accounts. Information quality is measured by a range of factors related to whether the firm has an audit, whether its auditor is a Big Four firm, whether the audit opinion is unqualified and, curiously, whether it would be **likely** to have an audit voluntarily and whether it would be **likely** to have a Big Four auditor.



Although the study does not look at the cost of capital, the authors comment that their findings are '...consistent with [SMEs with higher information quantity and quality] having lower cost of external capital'. The logic behind this assertion, based on measurements of leverage, is that firms would not have relatively high leverage unless their cost of borrowing was relatively low.

Vander Bauwhede et al (2015) look at data for Belgian private company SMEs for the period 1997-2010. They find that higher accruals quality is associated with lower borrowing costs. Indeed, '...the effective interest cost of an SME at the 10th [accruals quality] percentile is on average 194.9 basis points higher than the effective interest cost of an SME at the 90th [accruals quality] percentile'.

The authors' note that their findings relate to '...a context that might be characterized by relationship lending,' and comment that:

'...to the extent that flexibility in accounting rules impairs the quality of financial reporting, our findings could be interpreted as a call for stricter accounting regulation with less managerial discretion as this may support SMEs in their struggle to obtain bank loans at lower rates.'

#### **A5.5 COST OF CAPITAL: FINNISH EVIDENCE**

**Karjalainen (2011)** looks at a sample of Finnish private companies for the period 1999-2006. He finds that perceived audit quality, indicated by Big 4 audits and audits with more than one responsible individual identified, are associated with a lower cost of debt capital. He also finds that, '...firms with modified audit reports and those with lower-quality accruals have a higher cost of debt capital.'

#### A5.6 COST OF CAPITAL: SLOVENIAN EVIDENCE

Rather different findings emerge from **Koren et al (2014)**. The authors look at a sample of small (but not micro<sup>4</sup>) Slovenian companies for the period 2006-2010. They find that, '...after controlling for obvious sources of demand for voluntary audits (ownership complexity, subsidiary status, bank relations)...voluntary audits increase rather than decrease the cost of debt financing.' This suggests that voluntary audits may not be credible, and that the decision to have one perhaps sends a signal of poor quality where there is no 'obvious source of demand' for them. It would be interesting to see whether similar results are to be found in other jurisdictions.

Koren et al (2014) also find that, 'Earnings quality analyses show that small private firms with higher-quality financial statements are better able to predict future cash flows. These firms do not have their financial statements audited'.

#### **A5.7 COST OF CAPITAL: TAIWANESE EVIDENCE**

As reported earlier, **Chi et al (2013)** find that Taiwanese private company voluntary reporters have a lower cost of debt than non-voluntary reporters.

#### **A5.8 ACCESS TO CAPITAL: INTERNATIONAL EVIDENCE**

Hope et al (2011) look at a sample of private companies from 68 companies, using World Bank opinion survey data for 2002-2005. They do not look at the cost of capital, but find that '...firms with greater financial reporting credibility (ie, annual financial statements reviewed by an external auditor) experience significantly lower perceived problems in gaining access to external finance'.

4 The paper uses the subsequently introduced thresholds in classifying companies as micros.

#### **A5.9 INVESTMENT EFFICIENCY**

There is some evidence that higher accounting quality in private firms is correlated with higher investment efficiency. **Chen et al (2011)** look at financial reporting quality and investment efficiency in private firms in emerging markets. Their sample is 6,727 firm-years for firms from 21 countries – more than 50% of the sample is from Brazil, Pakistan, Thailand and Vietnam – for the period 2002-2005. Investment efficiency is measured by looking at '...deviations from expected investment using a model that predicts investment as a function of growth opportunities'. The greater the deviation from the expected level of investment, the less the deemed investment efficiency.

Their evidence '...suggests that [financial reporting quality] positively affects investment efficiency'. They also find that: '...greater use of bank financing increases the role that accounting information plays' and that 'for firms in which tax incentives are likely to dominate incentives to provide useful information for internal decision making as well as a source of information for outside providers of capital, the informational role of accounting is significantly diminished.'

#### **A5.10 AUDIT AND ACCOUNTING QUALITY**

Audits should lead to higher financial reporting quality, which should ultimately lead to other benefits, in particular for SMEs a lower cost of borrowing. As noted above, a connection between audit or perceived audit quality and lower borrowing costs or higher credit ratings or better access to external finance is found by Minnis (2011), using US evidence, by Lennox and Pittman (2011) and Dedman and Kausar (2012), using UK evidence, by Karjalainen (2011), using Finnish evidence, and by Hope et al (2011), using international evidence. Van Caneghem and Van Campenhout (2012), using Belgian evidence, find a positive association between various factors related to audit, which they use as a proxy for information quality, and higher leverage, which they argue should indicate lower borrowing costs. Koren at al (2014), using Slovenian evidence, have somewhat contrary findings.

Another paper, using data for UK SMEs, finds a connection between audit and financial reporting quality. **Clatworthy and Peel (2013)** look at the most recent filings available as at April 2010 of a sample of over a million UK small companies (turnover less than £6.5m) and look at the relationship between having an audit and the filing of revised accounts, which implies an error in the originally filed accounts. Their evidence 'indicates that small private firms filing unaudited accounts are approximately twice as likely to file defective annual accounts as their counterparts opting to have their accounts audited.' They also find that only 15% of the firms in their sample opt to file full (as opposed to abbreviated) accounts and only 3% opt to have an audit.

Liu and Skerratt (2015), referred to earlier in relation to accounting quality, also look at the relationship between audit and earnings quality for small and micro companies. Over the sample period 2006-2013 as a whole '...the results indicate that earnings quality is much the same for both audited and unaudited financial statements'. As noted above, their sample excludes companies that file abbreviated accounts. The authors also find a declining proportion of companies opting to have an audit. For small companies excluding those that would later be classifiable as micros, the proportion having an audit fell from 50.6% in 2006 to 9.5% in 2013. For micros, it fell from 47.3% in 2006 to 4.5% in 2013.

## and public filing choices



#### A6.1 AUDIT

Several papers look at the determinants of choices to have an audit, which should indicate where benefits of an audit are likely to be found.

Collis et al (2004) do not look at actual choices, but at what choices directors say they would make if given the chance. The authors ask directors of small UK companies (turnover between £0.5m and £4.2m) required to have an audit at the time of the survey (1999) whether they would opt to retain it if given the choice, and investigate correlations between their stated choices and various potentially related factors. The authors find that '...63% of the sample companies would choose to have a voluntary external audit' and that the most important explanatory factor is, '...perceptions of benefits, as measured by the directors considering that the audit improves the quality of the information and/or provides a check on internal records'.

The smallest firms in the sample in Lisowsky and Minnis (2013) would be too large to qualify as small in the EU, but some of them would qualify as medium-sized. The authors look at US private firms with total assets of over \$10m. They find that while 79% follow US GAAP, only 37% prepare audited US GAAP financial statements. They also find that '...firms with audited GAAP financial statements have greater ownership dispersion and debt levels, complementing prior evidence that external capital providers demand audited GAAP financial statements'.

The authors also find that '...profitable, older firms with tangible assets attract external capital without an audit'. The corollary to this is that '...younger, growth opportunity firms with intangible assets are those most likely to begin an audit,' ie, to have an audit voluntarily for the first time.

Dedman et al (2014) look at UK SMEs' choices on whether to have an audit, covering the period 2004, when the firms in the sample first became exempt from the statutory requirement to have an audit, to 2006. They find that: '...companies are more likely to purchase voluntary audits if they have greater agency costs,<sup>5</sup> are riskier, wish to raise capital, purchase non-audit services from their auditor, and exhibited greater demand for audit assurance [ie, paid more for audit] in the mandatory audit regime.' They also '... document a trend away from audit over time'.

#### A6.2 AUDIT AND FILING

In the UK, for SMEs that meet the relevant size requirements, firms have choices not only whether to have an audit but also whether to file publicly full or abbreviated accounts. The following paper examines the determinants of both these choices.

Collis (2012) looks at small and micro UK private companies (turnover less than £6.5m and less than £0.62m respectively<sup>6</sup>) to assess which factors determine why companies of this size, for which both audits and full disclosure of accounts are voluntary, choose to have an audit and to publicly disclose full accounts, rather than abbreviated ones. On audit, the author finds that, 'The most powerful determinant of voluntary audit in non-micro small companies is turnover... The most powerful determinant of voluntary audit in micro-companies is taking the [external] accountant's advice'. On disclosure, she finds that: 'The most powerful determinant of voluntary full accounts in non-micro small companies is the view that disclosing turnover is not a major disadvantage... The most

- The managers of a business act as agents for its owners, their principals. The harder it is for the owners of a business to control its managers, the higher agency costs are likely to be. Agency costs include unauthorised gains made by managers at the owner's expense, and the costs of monitoring to try to ensure that managers act in the owners' interests. Dedman et al (2014) use measures of firm size, complexity, leverage, ownership dispersion and board size as indicators of agency costs.
- The paper uses what were expected to be the subsequently introduced thresholds in classifying companies as micros. The actual turnover threshold in the UK turned out to be slightly different: £0.632m.

powerful determinant of voluntary full accounts in micro-companies is that the company has a voluntary audit.'

#### A6.3 FILING

**Dedman and Lennox** (2009) look purely at the filing choices of UK medium-sized private companies, using data obtained in 2006, covering financial years ending mainly in 2004 or 2005. They find that '...private companies withhold information from the public domain when gross profits are higher and when managers perceive that their markets are more competitive'. They comment that '...our evidence is consistent with the view that successful companies maintain comparative advantage by hiding proprietary information from their rivals'.

But giving away information to competitors is an issue even for private disclosures made in the context of relationship banking:

'I don't want to give all the information about my firm, my strategy, new products and plans because I suspect that the bank manager can transfer this to my competitors.' SME entrepreneur in north-east Italy, quoted in Howorth and Moro (2012).

## A7. Alternatives and complements to financial reporting



In analysing the costs and benefits of an information source it is important to understand its context, including alternative and complementary sources. Two recent studies do this in relation to bank loans to small US firms. Information about borrowers is useful to banks:

- in making the lending decision; and
- subsequently, in monitoring the loan.

The first study looks at the lending decision, where credit scores are both an alternative and a complement to financial reporting information, the second looks at monitoring the loan, where tax returns are both an alternative and a complement to financial reporting information.

Cassar et al (2015) look at bank lending decisions to small US businesses (fewer than 500 employees) that are not required to use accrual accounting. They can therefore test whether using accrual accounting rather than cash accounting affects banks' lending decisions. The sample is lending decisions affecting firms included in a 2003 small business finance survey. The median firm size in terms of total assets is \$144,544 (which would qualify as micro under EU criteria), and 92% of the firms are owner-managed.

#### The authors:

'...find little evidence that accrual accounting reduces the likelihood of loan denial; however, higher credit scores [prepared by third parties] are negatively associated with loan denial, suggesting that the information contained in these scores is used in the initial decision to accept or deny the [loan] application, while the incremental information from accrual accounting has little influence on this decision. In contrast, we find accrual accounting is negatively associated with the initial interest rate on approved loans' [ie, accrual accounting is associated with lower interest rates].

#### However:

'Further analyses suggest that accrual accounting only has a significant influence on interest rates in firms that have weak credit scores and short relationships with the lender... Moreover, any interest rate benefits from the alternative information sources appear to be eliminated when the borrower pledges collateral.'

Minnis and Sutherland (2015) use a US database of information about relatively small bank loans to firms. The data were obtained in 2012, but 39% of the loans originated prior to 2010. The average loan size is \$232,835; the median \$100,000.

The authors find that '...banks request financial statements for 51% of the loans in the sample ... 24% of those are for interim financial statements (the other 76% are annual financial statement requests).' They: '...find an inverse U-shaped relation between financial statements requests and borrower risk – that is, banks most frequently request financial statements from firms with middle tier credit risk, while firms with either high or low credit risk receive significantly fewer financial statement requests.' They suggest that this supports the hypothesis that:

'...the behavior of **low** risk borrowers is constrained by the value of their reputation, thus reducing the benefit of monitoring these borrowers. In contrast, for **high** risk borrowers, monitoring is an inadequate disciplining device because they have little reputation to lose, leading lenders to rely instead on credit rationing and price protection... The cost-benefit of monitoring borrowers is [therefore] highest for middle-risk borrowers.'

Minnis and Sutherland (2015) also find that banks request business tax returns for 43% of their sample. While, as might be expected, '...requests for a firm's tax returns are negatively associated with requests for a firm's financial statements' – ie, if banks ask for one of these, they do not usually ask for the other – the authors also find that:

'...banks are more likely to request **both** financial statements and tax returns when monitoring the borrower is most cost-beneficial (eg, a short or complex relationship or a middle tier credit risk). In other words, the implicit government monitoring of tax returns provides a complementary verification channel for financial statements.'

As noted in the report (Section 1), relationships between lender and borrower are also alternative sources of information for lenders.

### A8. IFRS for SMEs



A small amount of research is designed to cast light on the appropriateness of the *IFRS for SMEs*. Both the studies below refer to its possible adoption in the EU.

**Fülbier and Gassen (2010)** consider the pros and cons of possible adoption of the *IFRS for SMEs* by the EU. They argue that for private firms, the valuation role of financial reporting information is less important than for listed firms and the contracting role correspondingly more important.

The authors take income smoothing to be evidence of a demand for information for contracting purposes. Using a sample from 28 European countries over the period 1991-2008 (mainly 1998-2007), they find that '...the income smoothing behaviour of European private firms is shaped by competing incentives: creditors demand more, owner-managers prefer less income smoothing. Besides these firm-level incentives, country-wide determinants also have a direct and significant impact on the equilibrium level of income smoothing. Firms in countries with a strong tax link between financial and tax accounting report significantly smoother earnings streams.' These and other findings lead the authors to conclude that the '...heterogeneous demand [for financial reporting information] makes the benefits of a Europe-wide adoption of *IFRS for SMEs* highly questionable'.

Centre for Strategy and Evaluation Services (2010) is an opinion survey, compiled by a consultancy, on prospective relaxations of the EU accounting directives and the possible adoption of the IFRS for SMEs. It shows, among other things, the differing perspectives of users and preparers, with preparers identifying potential cost savings and lenders indicating on more than one point that if information is not required to be disclosed, they will ask for it anyway. The findings do not point to any overall conclusions on the desirability of the proposed changes. On some issues the answers indicate that reduced or increased disclosure requirements have a greater effect on costs the smaller the company, which is what might be expected. Interestingly, though, this is not true for all proposed changes; this may be because some disclosures are particularly relevant to larger companies, so smaller firms would be less affected by these potential changes to the requirements.

## References

Allee, Kristian D., and Teri Lombardi Yohn, 'The demand for financial statements in an unregulated environment: an examination of the production and use of financial statements by privately held small businesses', *The Accounting Review*, vol 84 (2009), p. 1-25.

Ball, Ray, and Lakshmanan Shivakumar, 'Earnings quality in UK private firms', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, vol 39 (2005), p. 83-128.

Beatty, Anne L., Bin Ke and Kathy R. Petroni, 'Earnings management to avoid earnings declines across publicly and privately held banks', *The Accounting Review*, vol 77 (2002), p. 547-570.

Beatty, Anne, and David G. Harris, 'The effects of taxes, agency costs and information asymmetry on earnings management: a comparison of public and private firms', *Review of Accounting Studies*, vol 3 (1998), p. 299-326.

Bigus, Jochen, Nadine Georgiu and Philipp Schorn, 'Legal form and earnings properties', *European Accounting Review* (forthcoming 2015).

Burgstahler, David C., Luzi Hail and Christian Leuz, 'The importance of reporting incentives: earnings management in European private and public firms', *The Accounting Review*, vol 81 (2006), p. 983-1016.

Cascino, Stefano, Mark Clatworthy, Beatriz García Osma, Joachim Gassen, Shahed Imam and Thomas Jeanjean, *The Use of Information by Capital Providers*, Brussels and Edinburgh: EFRAG and ICAS, 2013.

Cassar, Gavin, Christopher D. Ittner and Ken S. Cavalluzzo, 'Alternative information sources and information asymmetry reduction: evidence from small business debt', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, vol 59 (2015), p. 242-263.

Centre for Strategy and Evaluation Services, 4th Company Law Directive and IFRS for SMEs: Final Report, Sevenoaks: CSES, 2010.

Chen, Feng, Ole-Kristian Hope, Qingyuan Li and Xin Wang, 'Financial reporting quality and investment efficiency of private firms in emerging markets', *The Accounting Review*, vol 86 (2011), p. 1255-1288.

Chi, Wuchun, Dan Dhaliwal, Oliver Zhen Li and Tzong-Huei Lin, 'Voluntary reporting incentives and reporting quality: evidence from a reporting regime change for private firms in Taiwan', *Contemporary Accounting Research*, vol 30 (2013), p. 1462-1489.

Clatworthy, Mark A., and Michael J. Peel, 'The impact of voluntary audit and governance characteristics on accounting errors in private companies', *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, vol 32 (2013), p. 1-25.

CNA Interpreta, *Study on Accounting Requirements for SMEs: Final Report,* Brussels: European Commission, 2011.

Collis, Jill, *Directors' Views on Accounting and Auditing Requirements for SMEs*, London: Department for Business Enterprise and Regulatory Reform, 2008.

Collis, Jill, 'Determinants of voluntary audit and voluntary full accounts in micro- and non-micro small companies in the UK, *Accounting and Business Research*, vol 42 (2012), p. 441-468.

Collis, Jill, David Dugdale and Robin Jarvis, 'Deregulation of small company financial reporting in the UK,' in Stuart McLeay and Angelo Riccaboni (eds.), *Contemporary Issues in Accounting Regulation*, London: Kluwer, 2000.



Collis, Jill, and Robin Jarvis, 'Financial information and the management of small private companies', Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, vol 9 (2002), p. 100-110.

Collis, Jill, Robin Jarvis and Len Skerratt, 'The demand for the audit in small companies in the UK', Accounting and Business Research, vol 34 (2004), p. 87-100.

Dedman, Elisabeth, and Asad Kausar, 'The impact of voluntary audit on credit ratings: evidence from UK private firms', *Accounting and Business Research*, vol 42 (2012), p. 397-418.

Dedman, Elisabeth, Asad Kausar and Clive Lennox, 'The demand for audit in private firms: recent large sample evidence from the UK', *European Accounting Review*, vol 23 (2014), p. 1-23.

Dedman, Elisabeth, and Clive Lennox, 'Perceived competition, profitability and the withholding of information about sales and the cost of sales', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, vol 48 (2009), p. 210-230.

Fülbier, Rolf Uwe, and Joachim Gassen, IFRS for European Small and Medium-Sized Entities? A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, published online 2010.

Garrod, Neil, Urska Kosi and Aljosa Valentincic, 'Asset write-offs in the absence of agency problems', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, vol 35 (2008), p. 307-330.

Gassen, Joachim, and Rolf Uwe Fülbier, 'Do creditors prefer smooth earnings? Evidence from European private firms', *Journal of International Accounting Research* (forthcoming 2015).

Goncharov, Igor, and Jochen Zimmermann, 'Earnings management when incentives compete: the role of tax accounting in Russia', *Journal of International Accounting Research*, vol 5 (2006), p. 41-65.

Goncharov, Igor, and Jochen Zimmermann, 'The supply of and demand for accounting information: the case of bank financing in Russia', *Economics of Transition*, vol 15 (2007), p. 257-283.

Hernández-Cánovas, Ginés, and Pedro Martínez-Solano, 'Relationship lending and SME financing in the continental European bank-based system', *Small Business Economics*, vol 34 (2010), p. 465-482.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, Wayne Thomas and Dushyantkumar Vyas, 'Financial credibility, ownership, and financing constraints in private firms', *Journal of International Business Studies*, vol 42 (2011), p. 935-957.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, Wayne B. Thomas and Dushyantkumar Vyas, 'Financial reporting quality of US private and public firms', *The Accounting Review*, vol 88 (2013), p. 1715-1742.

Howorth, Carole, and Andrea Moro, 'Trustworthiness and interest rates: an empirical study of Italian SMEs', Small Business Economics, vol 39 (2012), p. 161-177.

Karjalainen, Jukka, 'Audit quality and cost of debt capital for private firms: evidence from Finland', *International Journal of Auditing*, vol 15 (2011), p. 88-108.

Kitching, John, Eva Kašperová and Jill Collis, 'The contradictory consequences of regulation: the influence of filing abbreviated accounts on UK small company performance', *International Small Business Journal*, published online 2013.

Koren, Jernej, Urska Kosi and Aljosa Valentincic, 'Does financial statement audit reduce the cost of debt of private firms?', 2014 (unpublished but available at www.ssrn.com).

Kosi, Urska, and Aljosa Valentincic, 'Write-offs and profitability in private firms: disentangling the impact of tax-minimisation incentives', *European Accounting Review*, vol 22 (2013), p. 117-150.

Lennox, Clive S., and Jeffrey A. Pittman, 'Voluntary audits versus mandatory audits', *The Accounting Review*, vol 86 (2011), p. 1655-1678.

Lisowsky, Petro, and Michael Minnis, *Financial Reporting Choices of US Private Firms: Large-Sample Analysis of GAAP and Audit Use*, Chicago: University of Chicago Booth School of Business, 2013.

Liu, Siming Diane, and Len Skerratt, 'Earnings quality across different reporting regimes: listed, large private, medium-sized, small and micro companies in the UK', 2015 (unpublished but available at www.ssrn.com).

Minnis, Michael, 'The value of financial statement verification in debt financing: evidence from private US firms', *Journal of Accounting Research*, vol 49 (2011), p. 457-506.

Minnis, Michael, and Andrew Sutherland, *Financial Statements as Monitoring Mechanisms: Evidence from Small Commercial Loans*, Chicago: University of Chicago Booth School of Business, 2015.

Nichols, D. Craig, James M. Wahlen and Matthew M. Wieland, 'Publicly traded versus privately held: implications for conditional conservatism in bank accounting', *Review of Accounting Studies*, vol 14 (2009), p. 88-122.

Peek, Erik, Rick Cuijpers and Willem Buijink, 'Creditors' and shareholders' reporting demands in public versus private firms: evidence from Europe', *Contemporary Accounting Research*, vol 27 (2010), p. 49-91.

Prencipe, Annalisa, Sasson Bar-Yosef and Henri C. Dekker, 'Accounting research in family firms: theoretical and empirical challenges', *European Accounting Review*, vol 23 (2014), p. 361-385.

Szczesny, Andrea, and Aljosa Valentincic, 'Asset write-offs in private firms – the case of German SMEs', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, vol 40 (2013), p. 285-317.

Van Caneghem, Tom, and Geert Van Campenhout, 'Quantity and quality of information and SME financial structure', *Small Business Economics*, vol 39 (2012), p. 341-358.

Vander Bauwhede, Heidi, Michiel de Meyere and Philippe Van Cauwenberge, 'Financial reporting quality and the cost of debt of SMEs, *Small Business Economics*, vol 45 (2015), p. 149-164.

ICAEW is a world leading professional membership organisation that promotes, develops and supports over 144,000 chartered accountants worldwide. We provide qualifications and professional development, share our knowledge, insight and technical expertise, and protect the quality and integrity of the accountancy and finance profession.

As leaders in accountancy, finance and business our members have the knowledge, skills and commitment to maintain the highest professional standards and integrity. Together we contribute to the success of individuals, organisations, communities and economies around the world.

Because of us, people can do business with confidence.

We are a founder member of Chartered Accountants Worldwide and the Global Accounting Alliance.

 $www. chartered account antsworld wide. com\\www. global accounting all iance. com$ 



Chartered Accountants' Hall Moorgate Place London EC2R 6EA UK

T +44 (0)20 7920 8100 E bettermarkets@icaew.com icaew.com/bettermarkets in linkedin.com – ICAEW

**☑** twitter.com/icaew

facebook.com/icaew



